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Prologue


Winston Churchill, 5 March 1946, Westminster College, Fulton, Missouri:


From Stettin in the Baltic to Trieste in the Adriatic, an iron curtain has descended across the Continent. Behind that line lie all the capitals of the ancient states of Central and Eastern Europe. Warsaw, Berlin, Prague, Vienna, Budapest, Belgrade, Bucharest and Sofia, all these famous cities and the populations around them lie in what I must call the Soviet sphere, and all are subject in one form or another, not only to Soviet influence but to a very high and, in many cases, increasing measure of control from Moscow.1


World War II in Europe was one of the most ideological wars in human history. It was not only fought for territorial and economic gain, but was a titanic clash of dogmas, the ultimate and inevitable confrontation between the extreme left, allied with the democracies, and the extreme right. And as the perceived stakes were so high, there would be no mercy and no quarter was given or expected. If the loss of around eighteen million European combatants was tragic enough, then the death of nearly double that number of civilians constituted the ghastly end result of a war where advances in technology and science for the purpose of killing on the battlefield, and for civilian genocide, had far exceeded any restraints espoused by human morality.


By 1945 Europe lay in ruins. Cities and towns had been levelled by saturation bombing; factories were destroyed; and the infrastructure of roads, bridges, railways and harbours that had sustained them lay derelict.


But even as Churchill spoke, there was a third catastrophic consequence being enacted as an outcome of the war and its resultant Iron Curtain. Europe and the rest of the world were now confronted by an urgent humanitarian, political, social and economic challenge—there were some seven million refugees in Western Europe alone.


Those refugees were a cross-section of humanity: each had their own country, creed and culture, and each had a unique war story to tell. The roads from east to west were clogged with solitary souls with often little more than the clothes they stood up in; or perhaps a parent and child with a handcart; or the more fortunate with a horse and wagon; and, perhaps, a family intact. Often, the scourge of distance was too great an obstacle for the undernourished refugees and their ‘transport system’. Mark Wyman recorded that:


… a horse collapsed and fell to the side of the clogged roadway, where its owner quickly removed the harness and cut its throat; immediately “a swarm of people, all with murderous looking knives, appeared and cut off hunks of meat for their next meal” while the animal still lived. The horse “was a near skeleton with his head untouched” in less than an hour.2


Some of the refugees were Jewish, or political prisoners who had survived the horror of concentration camps; others had worked in Germany and Austria for years as forced labourers sent from the lands of German conquest; there were POWs who had endured years of forced labour and torment; and then there were the seething masses of fugitives desperately trying to stay ahead of the rapidly advancing Soviet Army as the war had drawn to a close, or those who made their frantic bid for freedom just after the Soviet occupation. And amongst them were a number of Nazi collaborators who were fleeing westward to avoid trial and execution or the Soviet Gulag--Stalin’s equivalent of the Nazi concentration camps--because they were either involved in the administration of Hitler’s death squads, had personally participated in horrendous war crimes, or had committed both sins. A new identity in the West was their best chance of survival. And then, in the two years immediately following the war, came the forced exodus of ethnic Germans, the Volksdeutsche, who for generations had lived in such places as Poland or other Central and Eastern European countries.


After the sheer chaos and uncertainty of their flight to freedom, the refugees arrived predominately in Germany, Austria and Italy. They were initially quartered in literally hundreds of camps, varying in character and size from former forced-labour or concentration camps to military garrison camps, or villages consisting of single storey forced-labour house camps. One camp might consist of as little as a few score of occupants, while others might house thousands. After the initial relief of arrival, shifts in camp occupancy occurred either through army authorities wishing to segregate various national groups in the interest of camp harmony, or indeed instigated by the refugees themselves who tried to find family or friends and sought to congregate in national groups for security and support.


Once the immediate issues of food, sanitation, lice-ridden clothes and the real and potential outbreaks of disease were confronted, the long-term challenges facing the Western democracies were both complex and pressing. Stalin wanted the return of all refugees who had come from those countries now under Soviet control. Initially, the Western Allies complied with his wish, but the consequences of that decision were diabolical. There were often disastrous outcomes for those returning to Central and Eastern Europe and to a new master--sometimes for the second time. Some went back to summary execution; others faced years in the Gulag; and some, who knew from savage experience what lay ahead, took their own lives rather than face a repetition of past oppression and misery.


But what to do with this diverse European mass of humanity who remained? In simple terms, at least a significant portion of the solution to the degradation and ruination of the ‘old world’ might be found in a mass migration to the ‘new world’.


These refugees must be identified, processed as to age, health, skills, family situation, and a security screening must be enacted. In addition, there were a number of nations outside the Iron Curtain—some former allies and others former enemies--whose citizens had also been exposed to the war and its social and economic consequences, and who also craved a better life.


In what has become known as the ‘First Wave’ of postwar Australian immigration, from 1947 until the 1960s, Australia conducted a huge economic, social and political experiment that saw the young nation change its cultural composition. While Australia had sent many of its young sons and daughters to the ‘old world’ during two world wars, then now the ‘old world’ was about to come to Australia.
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MAP 1: The Iron Curtain: 1945


PART 1


THE DAYS OF OUR ISOLATION ARE OVER


The call to all Australians …


We live in an age where the earth’s surface seems to be contracting under the influence of scientific discoveries that almost baffle our imagination. The call to all Australians is to realise that without adequate numbers this wide brown land may not be held in another clash of arms …


Arthur Calwell, House of Representatives, 22 November 1946




1


… a real administrative grip


World War II in Europe had resulted in horrendous combatant and civilian casualties, and had dramatically changed its physical, political, social and economic landscape. Similarly, the Pacific war had also wrought utter destruction and suffering and for the first time in its brief but proud European history, Australia had been profoundly affected by that conflict. In a little over six months the Japanese had conquered South-East Asia and were fighting Australian troops in Papua New Guinea.


In contrast to the aftermath of World War I, when the prime concern of the government was the repatriation and implementation of welfare programs and facilities for ex-servicemen, there was, after World War II, a common desire for political, social and economic change. The Great Depression, followed by the most horrendous war in history, gave substance and shape and a sense of urgency for a better world.


It is interesting to note that such thinking had its genesis during the very early months of the Pacific war. In early 1942, the Commonwealth Department of Labour and National Service established a small reconstruction division to examine not only the issue of ex-servicemen and women’s repatriation, training and employment, but also funding for universities to consider such broad issues as secondary industry, the building industry, housing, public works, irrigation and how best to achieve a substantial population growth.


In December 1942, the Australian government replaced the reconstruction division by the formation of the Ministry of Post-War Reconstruction. Ben Chifley was named its first minister and Herbert ‘Nugget’ Coombs became its first director-general. The new ministry’s task was to both plan and coordinate Australia’s future conversion from its war economy to a postwar nation of full and lasting employment, and a consequent rise in the standard of living. Such progress would facilitate ‘decent town and country planning, modern transport and social services’.1


Although the challenges of postwar reconstruction were astutely identified, and significant planning accomplished, there were a number of impediments to progress. The first was the critical political hurdle of federal–state relations. The second was the dramatic and unexpected end of the Pacific war by the dropping of the two atomic bombs on Hiroshima and Nagasaki. The outcome was an increased sense of urgency for postwar reconstruction. The third was the now war-weary attitude of the Australian civilian population. Years of hardship during the Great Depression, the strict government wartime direction of manpower, and abundant regulations and rationing, all created a postwar desire for a relaxation of federal and indeed state controls.


But there were two issues confronting the Australian nation on which all of the planning, policies, hopes and dreams, and the rhetoric of postwar reconstruction depended. The first was the ability to expand the nation’s economy and to create resulting wealth to fund the multitude of programs already described. The second was the very real and pressing fear that Australia must have an enhanced military capacity to defend itself. And the vehicle for the realisation of both of these pressing needs was obvious: Australia must dramatically increase its population.


It is at this juncture that a significant character enters our story. Arthur Augustus Calwell was born on 28 August 1896 in West Melbourne. Of Irish and Welsh ancestry, Calwell’s Irish great-grandfather Daniel had emigrated to Pennsylvania in the USA in 1800. His son David (Arthur’s grandfather) had in turn emigrated to Ballarat in 1852 during the gold rush. He married Elizabeth Lewis, who had emigrated from Wales in 1854. Of David and Elizabeth’s eleven children only seven survived. The youngest of those seven children was Arthur Calwell’s father Arthur, who married Mary Murphy, an Irish emigrant who had migrated to Victoria as a result of the Irish potato famine.


Arthur Calwell’s prolific reading on such subjects as American history, and the political and social reforms of the Chartists and Fabian socialists, imbued him with a robust sense of social justice and a strong belief in the virtues of a diverse society through immigration. He developed an early keen and varied understanding of both the political process in Australia and the role of the public sector. Calwell entered the Victorian Public Service in 1913 and served as a clerk in the Department of Agriculture and later in the Treasury. At nineteen years of age he became secretary of the Melbourne Branch of the ALP; between 1926 and 1949, he was a member of the Victorian ALP Central Executive; was its president in the period 1930-33; and from 1930 was a Victorian delegate to the ALP’s Federal Executive.


On 21 September 1940, Calwell was elected as the federal member for the seat of Melbourne. After the Curtin government’s resounding victory in the August 1943 federal election, Calwell was given the last portfolio in the ministry as Minister for Information. This appointment gave him access to the inner sanctum of political power, and as such, he lost no opportunity to promote his views and passion for postwar immigration. He was influential, in the formation during 1942, of the Inter-Department Committee on Post-War Immigration (IDC), which was composed of representatives of the departments of the Interior, External Affairs, Social Services, Post-War Reconstruction, Repatriation and the Treasury. Although Calwell had no voice on that committee, he was present at its meetings, in the anticipation that his portfolio would be responsible for a publicity campaign to support a future immigration policy.


During those IDC meetings, Arthur Calwell was strongly influenced by W. D. Forsyth, who was an economist from the University of Melbourne and had been seconded to the Department of External Affairs. As early as 1942, Forsyth, in his book The Myth of Open Spaces, had advocated some fundamental changes to Australian immigration. One of the main thrusts of his book was the belief that Australia must change its emphasis from the rural settlement of immigrants and encourage them to live in urban areas.


Forsyth also predicted that Britain’s postwar reconstruction might well restrict the potential number of immigrants available to Australia, and in a prophetic statement, saw a solution. ‘Immediately after the war there may be a rush to leave war-torn Europe, notwithstanding demographic trends, and even if the economic situation were moderately good.’2


A further major immigration issue examined by the IDC during 1942 was the size of the future annual immigration intake. After the war, it was predicted that fertility rates would be only slightly above the replacement level. That assessment had three severe implications: the negative effect upon the economy; the inability to implement the many social and infrastructure initiatives proclaimed by the Department of Post-War Reconstruction; and the possibility of losing the nation to an invader.


As early as 1942, some politicians espoused grandiose Australian population targets of up to twenty million within fifteen to twenty years. A number of experts, chiefly Professor L. F. Giblin and Colin Clark, strongly rejected such targets. Both advocated a immigration target of around 70 000 per year.3 Therefore, the postwar yearly increase in population growth was set at 2 per cent, or 140 000 per year: 1 per cent by natural means and 1 per cent (70 000) by immigration.


Arthur Calwell: ‘When Curtin died and Chifley became Prime Minister, I wrote him a note suggesting that he should instantly create a portfolio for immigration and give the portfolio to me.’4 On 13 July 1945, just eight days after Curtin’s passing, Arthur Calwell was sworn in as the first Australian Minister of Immigration. He selected Tasman Heyes as the first permanent head of the new Immigration Department, which was to be initially staffed by a modest number of 24 officers, ‘of whom six were stationed in Canberra, six in Melbourne and twelve in London’.5


Two early decisions made by Chifley and Calwell demonstrate both their political and bureaucratic acumen. Given their awareness of the disjointed nature of the previous workings of the Post-War Reconstruction Department, the first initiative Calwell sought was a clearly defined and broad range of responsibilities for his new ministry. The second decision concerned their own political party.


Many members of the Labor Party had deep-seated fears concerning a mass immigration program: there was the apprehension that high unemployment would result and the employer would profit at the expense of the worker. In an astute move, Calwell used his influence in the Victorian branch of the party and Chifley in the NSW branch to assuage those concerns.6


On 2 August 1945, Arthur Calwell made his first ministerial statement to the House of Representatives. It was a landmark speech in the Australian Story, one that redefined the nation’s economic and social fabric, its future foreign affairs and indeed its changing place in a changing world. Given that his speech was delivered only days before the Japanese surrender, his two opening themes of population growth and defence were highly relevant to both the Parliament and the Australian people. Arthur Calwell:


We may have only those next 25 years in which to make the best possible use of our second chance to survive. Our first requirement is additional population. We need it for reasons of defence and for the fullest expansion of our economy. We can increase our 7,000,000 by an increased birth-rate and by a policy of planned immigration within the limits of our existing legislation.7


Having defined a practical, workable population growth target and the critical relationship between that goal and defence, Calwell then made a fundamental statement that was both economically and politically astute. Calwell:


… it is economically unsound to bring migrants to the country until there is continuous employment for them, and secondly, proper housing and other social amenities to help them to fit into the Australian way of life. … immigration policy is closely interwoven with the work of the new Housing Department, the Secondary Industries Commission, the Rural Industries Commission, and the Department of Commerce and Agriculture.8


While the economic implications of Calwell’s statement made great sense, the political psychology of it was shrewd. In simple terms, for the benefit of the soon to be ex-servicemen and women and for the benefit of the civilian workforce recently engaged in defence manufacturing, the Australian economy was to achieve stability and a measure of prosperity before a deliberate and measured immigration program. Thus, their jobs and their futures were not to be initially threatened by immigration, but later enhanced by it. And as discussed, the vehicle for that economic growth—as outlined by Forsyth--was to be predominately secondary industry and urban growth, rather than a set of disjointed rural growth patterns. In this setting, therefore, significant numbers of immigrants would be required for such an economic strategy.


Having addressed the key issues of repatriation, defence, the imperative of population growth, the size of immigrant intakes to facilitate it, and an immigration program built upon full employment and a growing industrial and urbanised economy, Calwell therefore possessed a comprehensive immigration strategy.


However, Calwell well knew that if the plan was to work, he must accommodate the powerful interests and views of business, labour and commerce. He employed a six-man panel to attend the International Labour Conference which was held in Paris in September 1945. That delegation was later converted to the Immigration Advisory Committee. Its initial members are of interest: two represented the government, two the union movement, and two business and commerce. A prime influence on that committee was Albert Monk, of the ACTU (Australian Council of Trade Unions). Calwell and Monk were to develop a strong working relationship.


Arthur Calwell was most perceptive in identifying the varied political and economic imperatives of a sound immigration policy. His ability to transcend political partisanship and strive for the lofty pursuit of the common good for all Australians places him in his nation’s history not just as a politician, but as a statesman. Calwell well understood the nature of the Australian electorate.


By virtue of their geographical isolation as an outpost of the British Empire, their loyalty to the monarch, their language, system of government, legal system, traditional literature, their sport, festive occasions, and even their naming of cities, towns and suburbs after British locations, Australians possessed a deeply ingrained loyalty to Britain. Exposure to other peoples and their cultures was extremely hampered by a lack of technology and communications. The ‘tyranny of distance’ was a fundamental reality of everyday life. Many Australians would have lived their lives never having travelled to another Australian capital city, let alone another country. In short, the Australian population was parochial and xenophobic—it was apprehensive and even feared other peoples and their cultures.


In his insightful 1942 book, The Myth of Open Spaces, W. D. Forsyth made a profound observation:


Exaggerated nationalism makes immigrant countries hostile to ‘alien’ elements. Established overseas peoples tend, at the stage of the growth of national consciousness, to resent the incursion of further immigrant masses, even of their own stock (author’s emphasis). … It is possibly an instinctive reaction against differences which imply a lack of sympathy with, and hence a danger to, a way of life which is not yet felt to be securely established, yet is emotionally indispensible to the colonial-born. … it is not surprising that young nations should be over-sensitive.9


Given Forsyth’s observations, it is hardly surprising that this Australian ‘over-sensitivity’ should find its extreme form in the opposition to even the possibility of Asian immigration. From Federation in 1901, Australia had adopted a White Australia Policy. Across the political spectrum, the labour movement and all social classes, there was a determination to preserve a universal racial and cultural homogeneity, social justice and equality, a fair distribution of wealth and an egalitarian society. If the prewar catchcry of ‘populate or perish’ seemed ominous enough, then the horrific and very recent Pacific war experience only exacerbated those fears. The White Australia Policy was the ultimate form of isolationist Australian racism, which was destined to a slow, and at times painful, death. Since Arthur Calwell faced a real degree of apprehension and concern at ‘alien’ immigration in 1945, to have even contemplated Asian immigration at that time would have constituted political suicide.


Such policies and attitudes were not confined to Australia. The Canadian immigration policy between 1946 and 1957 mirrored the very same aspirations and concerns that were evident in Australia. The Canadian Prime Minister’s Statement on his nation’s Immigration Program of 1 May 1947 identified the following familiar issues: immigration for population growth and economic development; selective immigration related to absorptive capacity; that immigration control is a national prerogative; it must not distort the present character of the Canadian population; and that the restriction on Asian immigration must remain.10


During that first important Ministerial Statement on 2 August 1945, Calwell made a number of pledges that were not only designed to reassure the electorate, but also to initiate gradual change. Three of them stand out. The first was a total commitment to ‘the demobilization, rehabilitation and re-employment of the men and women in the Australian fighting services’, while the second was ‘the overtaking of the lag in national housing’.11 Calwell’s third pledge was both cunningly conceived and worded. Although placing a clear emphasis upon British immigration, he hinted at other sources of immigrants. His first Ministerial Statement, 2 August 1945:


Apart from schemes of organized and assisted British migration, the door to Australia is always open within the limits of our existing legislation to people from various dominions, the United States of America, and from European continental countries [author’s emphasis] who are sound in health and who will not become a charge on the community, to come here and make their homes.12


During a Ministerial Statement to the House of Representatives fifteen months later, on 22 November 1946, Calwell went a little further:


… I would like to emphasize that the Government’s immigration policy is based on the principle that migrants from the United Kingdom shall be given every encouragement and assistance. It is my hope that for every foreign migrant there will be ten people from the United Kingdom. Only time will tell how far this hope can be realized [author’s emphasis].13


These shrewd statements by Calwell were quite simply designed to placate the electorate. He had known, as early as 1943, that future immigration targets were most unlikely to be met by British immigrants. We have noted W. D. Forsyth’s direct influence on immigration policy espoused in his book The Myth of Open Spaces, and his participation on the Inter-Department Committee on Post-War Immigration (IDC). That committee’s reports during 1943 and early 1944 clearly demonstrate that in order to achieve immigration targets, a substantial European ‘alien’ immigration policy would have to be instigated. A report dated 13 December 1943 demonstrates that potential European ‘alien’ migrants might come from a diverse cross-section of Europe, including Allied nationals, refugees, nationals of neutral countries, and even ‘ex-enemy nationals’.14 On 21 September 1944, a subcommittee of the Inter-Departmental Committee on Migration, in one of its conclusions, stated that:


… in view of the necessity of greatly enlarging Australia’s population and the fact that natural increase and British migration are not likely to provide sufficient increase, a vigorous policy of white alien immigration should be adopted and the alien migrant made to feel that he is regarded as an asset and not admitted on sufferance. … That a Standing Committee should be formed, consisting of representatives of the Departments of the Interior, External Affairs, Information, and Post-war Reconstruction, to give a general directive on migration publicity and to supervise the preparation and distribution of publicity material for use in Australia and abroad.15


During the first two years after the war, three factors restricted the immigration intake. The first was the fact that the Chifley government was engaged in the repatriation of its ex-servicemen and women and the initiatives required to change the nation from a war to a peacetime economy. The second, despite the attractive financial incentives offered by the Australian government, was the reduced number of available British immigrants due to full employment there. The third was the most serious, which was the severe shortage of shipping. At the beginning of World War II Britain possessed some 21 million tons of shipping across its Commonwealth. At war’s end, thirteen-and-a-half million tons of that shipping had been sunk.16


Arthur Calwell, his advisors, and the Chifley government had known for some years that the desired intakes of around 70 000 immigrants per year would only be met if substantial numbers of European ‘aliens’ were admitted to supplement the British intake. Fortunately, the timely and effective mechanism for the acquisition of those numbers came in 1946.


President Roosevelt first coined the term ‘the United Nations’ in 1942. The United Nations Relief and Rehabilitation Administration (UNRRA) was formed in Washington DC on 9 November 1943. Its basic purpose was to provide food, clothing and relief for those displaced by the war, with the eventual aim of repatriation. On 20 April 1946, the International Refugee Organisation (IRO) was founded as a specialised agency of the newly formed United Nations, and acquired most of the UNRRA’s roles. Twenty-seven nations, including Australia, became signatories and provided funds for the new organisation.17 The IRO was chiefly responsible for ‘the repatriation, care and assistance, legal and political protection, transport and re-settlement and re-establishment in countries able and willing to receive them, of persons within the scope of the organisation’.18


The IRO ‘job description’ is an inspiring, all-encompassing and, indeed, a noble statement. In theory, the tasks facing the new organisation were challenging enough, but in practice, they were monumental. Scattered across Germany, Austria and Italy was a crude and disjointed ‘welfare state’ consisting of some 900 camps housing around one-and-a-half million displaced persons (DPs) and refugees. And as Jayne Persian has recorded, their presence in that foreign ‘welfare state’ was not always held in high esteem:


To the post-war Germans, the DPs were known as schlechte Ausländern (bad dirty foreigners), and ‘held in the greatest contempt’. To Allied military authorities, they were ‘surplus population’ and ‘a nuisance’: ‘kriegies’ (POWs), ‘goddam DPs’ and ‘lousy Poles’. Jewish DPs … were described by US General George S. Patton Jr. in 1945 as ‘lower than animals.’19


The IRO’s first task was to assess which persons were eligible for its assistance and which were to be refused such aid. In broad terms, they defined DPs as those who had been deported from, or had been forced to leave their country of nationality, or of former habitation, such as persons who were compelled to undertake forced labour or who were deported for racial, political or religious reasons. The IRO’s definition of a refugee was wide-ranging. Refugees included persons who had been obliged to leave their country of nationality or former residence, such as the victims of Nazi or fascist regimes.


Under the heading of ‘Persons who will not be the concern of the Organisation’, the IRO showed little sympathy for the vanquished. Amongst a multitude of categories that would be refused aid were: war criminals, quislings and traitors; those who had assisted the enemy in persecuting civil populations of countries and members of the United Nations; ordinary criminals; and those who were at the time of application, in the service of a foreign country. But for Germans of ethnic origin, whether they were nationals, or members of German minorities in other countries, there was to be absolutely no assistance. It mattered not whether those Germans had moved from other countries to Germany, had fled Germany, had been resettled in conquered territories, or had fled from the advance of the Soviet Army. If such guidelines were easy enough to define, then the implementation of them was terribly difficult. How, amongst that diverse cross-section of European humanity, was an IRO official to make a judgement on the authenticity of a camp occupant? He or she might be a legitimate DP or refugee, or perhaps a traitor, war criminal, collaborator, or petty criminal. The conundrum concerning the integrity of the Australian selection process of immigrants from IRO camps, and an evaluation of that process, will be examined later.


For the DPs in any number of camps across Germany, Austria or Italy, their ‘passport’ to a new life was almost guaranteed once the IRO granted them an eligibility card. To often distressed, homeless, poorly clothed individuals, who might not even know if members of their family were still alive, let alone whether or not their houses still existed, this priceless document gave them three tangible reasons for hope. The first was the ongoing, daily ability to survive, as the IRO was to continue to provide their day-to-day needs. The second was the now official status as an innocent victim of the war, and therefore of a perceived innocent past, which provided them with a major sense of security. But for some DPs, the third benefit of the eligibility card was the greatest relief: they would no longer have to confront the extreme trauma of forced repatriation behind the Iron Curtain.


As Arthur Calwell departed for a fact-finding tour of the UK and Europe in June 1947, and given that Australia was a signatory to the IRO, Prime Minister Chifley suggested that Calwell examine the possibilities of DP immigration. On 28 June, the day after his arrival in London, he met representatives of the IRO Preparatory Commission (PCIRO) and was told that not only was there an abundance of potential DP immigrants, but that the necessary shipping might be supplied by the IRO. To encourage that shipping commitment, Calwell suggested to Chifley that, in addition to the initial £857 699 joining fee to the IRO, a £10 payment per migrant be paid towards those shipping costs. Chifley agreed. Thus, the critical impediments to attaining the desired immigrant intake were overcome with remarkable skill and speed.


Barely a month after that meeting, and even though the agreement between the PCIRO and the Australian government had yet to be formally signed, Calwell acted with a further great sense of purpose and immediacy. Knowing that other nations would invariably seek to exploit the very same DP immigration source, he acted decisively and informed his prime minister after. Arthur Calwell to prime minister Ben Chifley:


I am sending 2 officers to make preliminary selection of D.P. camps of those classes of workers who can best assist our manpower shortages. We would select types specially suitable for rural work, nursing and domestic work in hospitals, labour for our reconstruction programme and developmental projects. Selection will be on general suitability for work to be performed, after IRO and British security have satisfied our medical and security requirements. … If you approve I will go to Geneva and sign agreement with IRO on behalf of Australia.20


Chifley approved. Not long after, Calwell reinforced his two-man team by a further two. The Head of the Australian Military Mission to Europe, Brigadier Frederick Galleghan, was to be in charge of security checks, but was to operate under the jurisdiction of the Immigration Department. Calwell’s initial four-man team was responsible for all other selection matters and the local broader administration of the immigration process.


While Calwell and his department had secured both a source of additional immigrants and a viable shipping supply, there were three significant challenges at home that still confronted the department’s ability to make the immigration scheme work. Given that there was an acute shortage of housing in Australia, the first problem was the accommodation of the new arrivals--the initial hundreds in 1947 were to be closely followed in future years by ongoing thousands. The answer to the problem was fortuitous. Australian Army camps provided the large-scale accommodation, catering facilities, a direct rail link from ports and numerous other required amenities. The first reception camp chosen was Bonegilla near Wodonga in north-eastern Victoria. As the numbers of migrants grew, similar camps were opened in most states, such as Woodside in the Adelaide Hills.


As families were later included in the intake, in addition to single workers or unaccompanied married men, extra accommodation facilities were added. On 10 September 1948, the Immigration Advisory Council endorsed a Cabinet decision to build and equip ‘a further nine hostels, at Sydney, Melbourne, Port Kembla and Newcastle, and to adapt services and other buildings at Melbourne, Sydney, Brisbane, Adelaide, and Port Stephens, at an estimated cost of £2,500,000.’21


The second challenge was the conditions of employment. Given that the immigrants would be given a virtual free passage to Australia, and that they would be accommodated free of charge, the Immigration Department imposed a set of stringent working conditions. Those migrants, either skilled or unskilled, were bound to work at any location named by the Department of Labour, and at any unskilled job allotted by it for a contract term of one year, which was very soon changed to two years.


From the Australian government’s perspective, the two-year employment contract was ideal. It satisfied the vital need for unskilled labour, and the selection of that vast pool of unskilled labour was relatively simple and speedy. Further, as the scheme was administered by a Labor government, and particularly because the Commonwealth Immigration Advisory Council had two ACTU delegates, all migrant labour was subject to already established pay rates and work conditions.


As Calwell and his Department of Immigration had been acting with great haste to procure DP immigrants in Europe, then so too had the Commonwealth Immigration Advisory Council been moving with similar enthusiasm on a third crucial domestic matter. Adopting the rather quaint term ‘the conditioning process’, it recommended that a substantial publicity campaign be instituted in Australia to promote the immigration of persons of other than British stock.


The Australian Immigration policy instituted by Arthur Calwell in 1947 was highly structured and government regulated. Freda Hawkins, in her study of Canadian Immigration, has identified both the short and long-term advantages of Arthur Calwell’s system. After identifying great similarities between the two nations—large land spaces, small populations, and an only brief experience of economic planning and of running an overseas bureaucracy such as immigration— she identified some differences. First, Australia, unlike Canada, did not have to accommodate the wishes of two distinct groups of host citizens with a different language and country of origin. Second, the war experience of the two nations was markedly different. Whilst both nations gave exemplary war service, the Australian experience was more immediate, and therefore alarming, which ‘compelled more radical thinking and involved a hard look at the national situation and a readier acceptance at an early stage of determined government action in this field’.22 Freda Hawkins:


Nevertheless, this would not have been enough without politicians and officials capable of a real administrative grip on the problem and able to create both the elements of an effective service and the political institutions and communications required to support it.23


****


To appreciate the Australian immigration journey of that ‘first wave’ of European postwar immigrants, three distinct sections will be examined. The first is an appreciation of the war experiences of a sample of those immigrants, to give a context, or setting, to who they were and what had shaped them. The second will be an examination of how they established themselves in their new land and how they were received at both the government and community level. The third will relate to how they have looked back on their migrant experiences and what their contributions have been.




2


… a common dilemma


Arthur Calwell knew only too well that the first shipment of European DPs to Australian shores would create the initial impression of them in the eyes of the Australian public. All those chosen were healthy, single persons under the age of 40. The first shipload of 840 DPs consisting of 440 Lithuanians, 262 Latvians and 138 Estonians left the German port of Bremerhaven on the USAT (United States Army Transport) ship General Heintzelman. Those 726 men and 114 women arrived at Fremantle in November 1947. After changing ship they arrived in Melbourne in early December.1


Keith Stodden, Australian Department of Immigration, was under no illusions as to why this mixture of people from the Baltic states were selected as the first displaced persons to come to Australia:


I think because the Government and the Minister felt that in order to introduce the inevitable large scale European migration they should make every effort to make the best possible impression, and they thought that the Baltic people with their complexions, their physiques, their overall background, would be among the most acceptable in Australia, because they were supposed to be, taken to be, so much like us. If you saw them in Collins Street Melbourne, or North Terrace Adelaide, you wouldn’t look twice. …


It reflects the underlying, or one of the strongest underlying driving factors in the postwar immigration program, and that was the need for labour. To have 840 young, easily assimilated, good looking, acceptable men and women from the Baltic states who under their two year work contract could be sent anywhere in Australia to work for two years at the government’s direction, well, they were important factors.2


After that first shipment of 840 migrants from the Baltic states had arrived in 1947, by the end of 1953 a total of 19 421 Latvians, 9906 Lithuanians, and 5329 Estonian DPs had emigrated to Australia.3


The downfall of the Russian and German empires as a result of World War I had allowed the creation of the three Baltic states. By 1922 all three countries had gained their independence. That hard-won and long-sought-after freedom was to last a trifling eighteen years. During the period 1940-44 those luckless Baltic states were destined to be invaded and occupied three traumatic times. As a result of the Molotov-32 Ribbentrop Pact signed in secret on 23 August 1939, Poland was to be dismembered and spheres of influence allotted to both Germany and the Soviet Union. That pact sealed the fate of the Baltic nations. After Germany invaded Poland on 1 September 1939, the Russians followed suit and invaded Poland sixteen days later. Thus, Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia were geographically isolated and vulnerable to a Soviet takeover.


Stalin created the pretext for the invasion and occupation of the three Baltic states by claiming that they had violated existing treaties: Estonia and Lithuania were attacked on 16 June 1940, and Latvia the day after. The three nations, in a hopeless military position, capitulated and were henceforth an annexed part of the Soviet Union. Over the next four years there would be six main groups of Baltic states DPs and refugees created, who sought escape from two different masters during and after three invasions.


Hitler well knew that after the partition of Poland by the Germans and Russians, the latter would invade the Baltic states. He therefore demanded the return and resettlement to Poland of ethnic Germans. Thus, the first group were the Volksdeutsche (ethnic Germans), who were cunningly joined by a substantial number of Baltic people who were loath to stay under Soviet rule and were often able to speak fluent German. According to Egon Kunz, around 1300 of these ‘imposters’ eventually found their way to Australia.4 The second group to leave the Baltic states were the refugees of mid-1940 who gathered at Baltic Sea ports and moved to either Sweden or Germany.


The formation of the next three groups was caused by the German occupation of the Baltic states, which constituted a part of its invasion of the Soviet Union in mid-1941. The first occurred as a result of their war on a number of fronts, which forced the Germans to supplement their massive manpower needs by a forced-labour program across their occupied lands in Europe. The second group formed were those who joined national units to fight alongside the German Wehrmacht, and in some cases SS units, against the Russians. There were a number of reasons for a Baltic person’s participation in such units. That man might be a passionate anti-communist; he might participate in the hope that independence might return in due course; or he might be a self-serving traitor who was merely concerned about his own welfare and advancement. The third group were evacuated westwards by, and with the Germans, as the fortunes of war turned against them.


The sixth and last major group of DPs and refugees to leave the Baltic states occurred in 1944 as the Soviet Army swept through those states for a second time. This last group was the largest and probably the most desperate: they had witnessed the Soviet invasion of 1940 and knew only too well its characteristics: political and military leaders, bureaucrats, the wealthy, the well-educated and anyone who had collaborated with the Third Reich were either liquidated, sent to the Gulag, or, at best, dispossessed of their occupations and homes.


****


Before the war, Latvia was bordered by the Baltic Sea to the west, Estonia to the north, Russia and Byelorussia (present day Belarus) to the east and Poland to the south. In 1939 its population was just under 2 000 000 and contained small Russian, German, Swedish, and Jewish minorities.


Mrs Eva Brenners (née Weiss), interview with the author, Melbourne, 7 January 1999. Born Riga, the capital of Latvia, on 11 November 1930.


Eva came from a well-to-do background. Her father ran a very successful taxi business, which consisted of four American cars. He drove one car, and two drivers per cab did a shift each in the other three cabs. Her family reflected a common Latvian mixed descent:


We’ve always had Germans there, we’ve always had Russians … myself, I’ve got a Latvian father; my mother, my mother’s mother is of German descent; my grandfather on my mother’s side is Ukrainian; that’s very common in Latvia. I grew up with three languages, Latvian, German and Russian.


With the Russian invasion in 1940 life changed very quickly. When children were nearby conversations stopped, there were certain people you may have known quite well, whom you didn’t talk about anymore. These were people who were unacceptable to the Russians. And that included her father. Eva: ‘If you are an employer, you must be a capitalist pig! So the taxis were nationalised, and he was left with one. Three were taken away.’ Her education changed dramatically in her third year of primary school. All of a sudden, a study of Lenin and Stalin became part of the curriculum and many children were forced to join the Red Pioneers, which was the Russian equivalent of the Hitler Youth. Eva:


I said to my mother, ‘I think I’ll have to join the Red Pioneers.’ And I’ll never forget my mother’s look … you see, if the parents would say, ‘No you can’t,’ you’d be asked at school, ‘Why don’t you join?’ ‘My parents don’t want me to.’ I would have signed a sentence for them in Siberia. People got arrested, people disappeared.


In 1941, Eva’s father’s twin ‘crimes’ of having fought against the Bolsheviks during World War I and having been a successful taxi owner ‘capitalist’ caught up with him. Fortunately, when the authorities arrived at the family home to arrest him, he was absent. Somehow, Eva’s mother got word to her husband and ‘he was staying with friends, always changing where he was’. Their first attempt to leave Latvia involved the use of Eva’s grandmother’s German status. It failed. Employing the age-old mechanism of bribery, her father exchanged his last taxi cab as a means of escape.


In early 1941, the Weiss family escaped and were settled in Rathen, about 35 kilometres south-east of Dresden, in Saxony, East Germany. Three months after their arrival Hitler launched Operation Barbarossa. They were accommodated in a pub hall, with many bunks and mixed sexes, and therefore no privacy. Her father was given work as a transport driver, while her mother played the piano in a nearby pub. She was given the odd free meal in return and looked after Eva and her sister. Life in Saxony had its challenges.


You see sometimes you could get a flat or something which went with the job. My father’s job didn’t have that. So we were living more or less in displaced persons camps for all those war years. One evening the local party boss came in and instead of greeting him with ‘Heil Hitler’, my mother said, ‘Good evening’. … she spent three days in detention.


We were higher than the Jews, yes of course, but that’s about it. If you joined the army of course you were better off, but my father insisted that he would not. They offered us citizenship. My father said that he was Latvian not German. He was sensing that things were not going to finish right.


From the hotel hall accommodation in Rathen, the family was moved to Chemnitz, Saxony, where they were accommodated in part of an old monastery. The nuns had been ‘pushed out’. It was during this period in time that Eva began to hear of unpleasant stories, but at the time, was not sure of their authenticity.


Now occasionally we got issues of second-hand clothing—I suspect now that they came from the concentration camps. Where else would you get second-hand clothing from and pretty good clothing? It was given to us for no cost. And then there were the rumours going around, I mean the soap that you could buy during the war, it was either like a piece of clay, or it was like a little sponge. And the sponge they said, ‘This is Jewish bones!’ There were references you could hear.


Apart from his business acumen and his determination to refuse German citizenship, Eva’s father possessed a measured, pragmatic sense of history. After the German invasion of the Baltic states, a number of Latvians journeyed back to their homeland, not realising that they were destined for a subsequent second Russian occupation and the need to escape yet again. ‘My father said, “As soon as Leningrad falls we’ll go back.” The siege of that bastion lasted for nine hundred days. The Weiss family did not go back.


On 13 October 1944, the Soviet Army recaptured the Latvian capital Riga and its irresistible offensive towards Germany continued. By this time, Eva’s father had been sent to Czechoslovakia to dig trenches as a forced labourer; her mother was still looking after her two daughters; and her sister was living in Dresden and working as a tram conductress. As the Russians advanced into Germany in early 1945, Eva’s mother was confronted with a terrible choice. Her eldest daughter had sustained an infection in a leg, and Eva had an appendicitis attack. With her husband’s whereabouts unknown, she was forced to decide whether to flee from the advancing Russians or stay in the monastery and hope and trust that her daughters would soon recover, and that her husband might return. She decided to stay.


Eva well remembered the terror of the Russians’ arrival:


In that part of Saxony … were a group of Czechs who had migrated to Germany some centuries ago and settled in that area. … But they weren’t treated any differently, the women were raped, the houses were burgled. The nuns that stayed there, they didn’t fare any better. That was war. I was fourteen at the time. We didn’t go out, we stayed in the cellar there.


After a brief and successful German counterattack, the Russians came a second time. Eva: ‘… and then just about all the population fled. Have you seen 80 nuns on bicycles? Off they went, with good reason.’


The end of the war brought a change of fortune for the Weiss family. Eva’s father returned. Given his past, and with the obvious threat of Siberia in store for him, the challenge now confronting them was how to make good their escape to the west. Eva witnessed the forced and tragic repatriation of a multitude of forced labourers who were often walking to a miserable fate.


You could see lots and lots of people, the Russian workers, the Polish workers ... so columns and columns of people marching and when you saw them you sort of moved out of the way, because if they saw you with a watch in your hand they would walk off with your watch, or if you had a bicycle they would grab from you.


If Eva’s father had displayed a crucial ability to interpret both local and far-distant events, then her mother was no less astute. Her piano playing was also a subtle form of intelligence gathering. French and Belgium POWs had informed her that people in the west were being ‘looked after’ and that such luxuries as ‘getting their food, somewhere to sleep, showers, that they could wash’ existed in the British and American zones. Her father and mother devised an inventive solution. Eva’s father had been born in Jekabpils, Latvia. On her father’s passport in Germany was written ‘Jakobstadt’. Eva: ‘Sounds a bit Dutch, doesn’t it? So what we did—you see you do lots of things to survive— so we wrote in brackets behind Jakobstadt ‘Holland’. … the border guards wouldn’t know geography so well’. By this time her parents were working for the Russian Army of Occupation as interpreters, and when their immediate Russian masters were drunk one night, her parents ‘obtained’ the necessary documents and wrote themselves permits to cross the border. It was a near-run thing. With a truck designated to pick up Latvians for transportation to a railway point for a return to Latvia only days away, the Weiss family, handcart in tow, walked east for about six kilometres until they were out of sight, and then began their movement back to the west. When they tried to cross the border the first time, the Russian guard pointed out that such a crossing was conditional. ‘Oh well, if she comes to sleep with me tonight we might let you cross.’ The second attempt to cross also failed. The third attempt succeeded.


During the Weiss family’s initial stay in a British zone camp, there was no hint of migration in that fluid state of homelessness. The authorities faced the massive and diverse task of identifying and processing a diverse range of nationals from Eastern and Central Europe, some of whom desired a return to their homeland, while others lived in total fear of such a fate. Eva: ‘On the whole the Germans saw us as intruders while the Allies, well, we were people, somebody had to take care of us, and they couldn’t just let us die in the streets.’


When emigration became available, in a not uncommon DP experience, the Weiss family, having survived the trauma of war, fragmented and went their separate ways. Eva:


Now unfortunately with the pressures of the whole situation my parents’ marriage broke up. They came through the war OK, but as far as migrating, then the friction started. I mean, ‘Do we migrate, do we stay, do we do this, do we do that?’ After twenty-five years they went their separate ways. So my sister had married and migrated to Australia and there was I. I went to a domestic science school to learn how to be a housemaid. I had to do the training for that to migrate. And this was where I met my husband, because he was in a returned soldiers’ camp just a kilometre away. There were weekly dances … and that was the end of me!


Eva married in Germany in January 1950, at twenty years of age. While her husband fancied settling in the US, he was refused entry due to his status as an ex-soldier. When she received letters from her now established sister in Australia, her husband was confronted with encouraging news: ‘It’s OK! She’s working! They bought a washing machine after two years! Isn’t it wonderful! Let’s go to Australia!’


Although Eva and her husband registered for immigration in February 1950, the fact that her father was to accompany them— her mother had decided to remain in Germany—caused a delay. It would be October before Eva, her husband and father boarded the ship Fairsea and duly arrived in Melbourne on 7 November 1950 (Melbourne Cup day). They were three of 5325 Latvians who arrived in Australia in 1950, the second biggest Latvian intake under the Mass Resettlement Scheme.


****


Lithuania is the southernmost and largest of the three Baltic states. Before the war, it was bordered by the Baltic Sea to the west, Latvia to the north and Poland and Germany to the east and south. It had a population of around 2 800 000. Lithuania was the least industrialised of the three Baltic states, with a predominantly Catholic population. It also had a substantial Jewish population which was concentrated in the main cities and towns.


Mrs Brone Sidaras, interview with the author, Sydney, 17 April 2001. Born Vilkaviškis, Lithuania, 1 August 1928. Vilkaviškis is close to the Polish border, and is approximately 150 kilometres west of the capital Vilnius.


Brone was the second youngest of nine children, seven girls and two boys. Her parents had a farm which provided the family with a comfortable living, which was supplemented by her father subcontracting his machinery to other local farmers.


Her memories of the Soviet occupation are typical of the Baltic experience: the middle of the night raids, with the consequent disappearance of both individuals and families; the occupation of homes and parts of homes by the Russians; the indoctrination of students at school; and burnt into her memory are her recollections of the occupying Mongol soldiers. Brone:


At first when they come they was very behaved, I used to go to my sisters and we had to go through the forest, the forest was one and a half kilometre. That’s where they used to stay … you could walk past them, and they’d never touch you … but when they came the second time …


Brone’s life changed forever when the Germans invaded Lithuania during June-July 1941.


It was Sunday morning, I waked up. I can hear the plane. I got out of bed and looked out the window and the planes wouldn’t be higher than the roof! So I ran to mum and dad … you could see the Russians, they was running like ants … there was no fighting, they just run.


If many of the Baltic people first saw the German occupation of their three states as a liberation from Soviet rule, and perhaps an eventual return to independence, they were soon given a rude awakening. While the Soviets had caused the breakup of many family units, and the numerous deaths of many of their members, the Germans were no better. First came the demands for forced labourers. Brone: ‘From each family one was taken to Germany … my brother was taken … forced labourer.’ And then came the real horror, an obvious horror, but often an unspoken one. In Vilkaviškis there were many Jews and many of them owned and ran businesses from shops. By the time the German occupation was three months old, even a young, innocent thirteen-year-old girl like Brone knew that horrible events were in train. When her father’s Jewish friend came with an offer of gold in return for his assistance, he was met with genuine and heartfelt sympathy, but also with abject fear. It has been estimated that some 3000 people, predominately Jews, were exterminated around her area during this time. Such was life under the second master.


With the coming of the Russians for a second occupation in late 1944, despite the fact that her father wanted to stay, Brone’s mother, with the Russians now only kilometres away, demanded that the family flee. The farm wagon was packed with clothes, basic food and utensils, and everything else was abandoned. ‘Everybody was running. And Lithuania was burning … fires everywhere … the Germans burnt everything.’ The family kept on the move, often staying in schools, and Brone remembered that the Germans mostly treated them well. At this point Brone, one of her brothers and her 32-year-old sister were taken away from their parents to dig infantry trenches in East Germany. At sixteen years of age her daily quota of metres dug per day was regularly increased. She was fed a black bread roll, about ten centimetres long, a piece of margarine roughly the size of a twenty-cent coin and some watery vegetable soup at night. Brone:
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